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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

In this section of the Annual Financial and Compliance Report, we, the managers of the City of Kermit, 
Texas, discuss and analyze the City’s financial performance for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013.  
Please read it in conjunction with the Independent Auditor’s Report on page 1, and the City’s Basic Financial 
Statements, which begin on page 9. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The City’s net position decreased by $8,781 as a result of this year’s operations.  Net position of our 
governmental funds increased by $181,034, or 12%, and net position of our business-type activities 
decreased by $189,815, or approximately 4.8%. (Exhibit B-1)  
 
During the year, the City had operating expenditures that were $533,308 more than the $2,061,964 
generated in tax and other revenues for the governmental programs. (Exhibit C-3)  This compares to last 
year when expenditures exceeded revenues by $524,531. 
 
In the City’s business-type activities, revenues increased by $226,839, while expenses increased by 
$360,483.   
 
Total cost of the City’s programs was $4,686,537 while last year's cost was $4,040,814. (Exhibit B-1) 
 
The fund balance for the General Fund ended the year at $845,816 and the ending fund balance from last 
year was $595,566. 
  
The resources available for appropriation were $192,413 more than budgeted for the General Fund primarily 
due to the increased sales and use taxes and franchise taxes that all areas of the Permian Basin are 
enjoying in the current economy. 
  
USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT 
 
This annual report consists of a series of financial statements.  The government-wide financial statements 
include the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities (on pages 9 and 10-11).  These 
provide information about the activities of the City as a whole and present a longer-term view of the City’s 
property and debt obligations and other financial matters.  They reflect the flow of total economic resources 
in a manner similar to the financial reports of a business enterprise. 
 
Fund financial statements (starting on page 12) report the City’s operations in more detail than the 
government-wide statements by providing information about the City’s most significant funds.  For 
governmental activities, these statements tell how services were financed in the short term as well as what 
resources remain for future spending.  They reflect the flow of current financial resources, and supply the 
basis for tax levies and the appropriations budget.  For proprietary activities, fund financial statements tell 
how goods or services of the City were sold to departments within the City or to external customers and how 
sales revenues covered the expenses of the goods or services.   
 
The notes to the financial statements (starting on page 21) provide narrative explanations or additional data 
needed for full disclosure in the government-wide statements or the fund financial statements. 
 
Reporting the City as a Whole 
 
The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities 
 
The analysis of the City’s overall financial condition and operations begins on page 9.  Its primary purpose is 
to show whether the City is better off or worse off as a result of the year’s activities.  The Statement of Net 
Position includes all the City’s assets and liabilities at the end of the year while the Statement of Activities 
includes all the revenues and expenses generated by the City’s operations during the year.  These apply the 
accrual basis of accounting, which is the basis used by private sector companies.  
 
All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received 
or paid.  The City’s revenues are divided into those provided by outside parties who pay for the costs of 
programs (such as utility funds) and grants provided by outside parties and agencies (program revenues), 
and revenues provided by the taxpayers or other unrestricted sources (general revenues).  All the City’s 
assets are reported whether they serve the current year or future years.  Liabilities are considered 
regardless of whether they must be paid in the current or future years. 
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These two statements report the City’s net position and changes in it.  The City’s net position (the difference 
between assets and liabilities) provide one measure of the City’s financial health, or financial position.  Over 
time, increases or decreases in the City’s net position are one indicator of whether its financial health is 
improving or deteriorating.  To fully assess the overall health of the City, however, you should consider non-
financial factors as well, such as changes in the City’s property tax base or the condition of the City’s 
facilities. 
 
In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, we divide the City into two kinds of 
activities: 
 

Governmental Activities:  Most of the City’s basic services are reported here.  Property, Sales & 
Use, and Franchise Taxes finance most of these activities. 
 
Business-type Activities:  The City charges a fee to customers to help it cover all or most of the cost 
of services it provides in the Water Utility System and Solid Waste Funds. 
 

 
Reporting the City’s Most Significant Funds 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund financial statements begin on page 12 and provide detailed information about the most significant 
funds – not the City as a whole.  Laws and contracts require the City to establish some funds, such as 
grants received from a government agency.  The City’s administration establishes many other funds to help 
it control and manage money for particular purposes.  The City’s two kinds of funds – governmental and 
proprietary – use different accounting approaches. 
 

Governmental Funds:  Most of the City’s basic services are reported in governmental funds.  These 
use the modified accrual method of accounting (a method that measures the receipt and 
disbursement of cash and all other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash) and 
report balances that are available for future spending.  The governmental fund statements provide 
a detailed short-term view of the City’s general operations and the basic services it provides.  We 
describe the differences between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position 
and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds in reconciliation schedules following each 
of the fund financial statements. 
 
Proprietary Funds:  The City reports the activities for which it charges users (whether outside 
customers or units of the City) in proprietary funds using the same accounting methods employed 
in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities.  In fact, the City’ enterprise funds 
are the business-type activities reported in the government-wide statements but containing more 
detail and additional information, such as cash flows.   

 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
Our analysis focuses on the net position (Table I) and changes in net net position (Table II) of the City’s 
governmental and business-type activities. 
 
Net Position of the City’s governmental activities was $1,717,479.  Unrestricted net position – the part of net 
position that can be used to finance day-to-day operations without constraints established by debt 
covenants, enabling legislation, or other legal requirements – were $850,270 at September 30, 2013.  
 
Net Position of the City’s business-type activities were $3,580,641, which included $770,205 in unrestricted 
net position, $1,057,602 in net position restricted by debt covenants and meter deposit funds and 
$1,752,834 in Investment in capital assets, net of related debt.  
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Table I
Net Position

Current and other assets $ 1,269,719  $ 1,000,452  $ 2,076,740  $ 3,034,471  
Capital assets 935,608     1,044,966  6,273,679  5,921,686  

Total assets $ 2,205,327  $ 2,045,418  $ 8,350,419  $ 8,956,157  

Long-term liabilities $ 62,714       $ 91,391       $ 4,060,000  $ 4,415,000  
Other liabilities 425,134     419,637     709,778     770,701     

Total liabilities $ 487,848     $ 511,028     $ 4,769,778  $ 5,185,701  

Net Position:
Invested in capital assets, net of related 
debt $ 844,222     $ 901,871     $ 1,858,678  $ 1,329,073  
Restricted 22,987       32,496       461,913     798,096     
Unrestricted 850,270     600,023     1,260,050  1,643,286  

Total Net Position $ 1,717,479  $ 1,534,390  $ 3,580,641  $ 3,770,455  

2013 2012

Governmental Activities

20122013

Business-type Activities

 
 

Table II
Changes in Net Position

Revenues:

Program Revenues:
Charges for Services $ 207,919     $ 201,530     $ 2,223,228   $ 2,004,220   

General Revenues:
Maintenance and OperatIons Taxes 605,506     566,281     -                  -                  
General Sales Taxes 734,216     716,244     -                  -                  
Franchise Taxes 245,703     243,286     -                  -                  
Other Taxes 30,215       22,931       -                  -                  
Penalty & Interest 34,020       39,138       -                  -                  
Grants & Contributions not restricted 23,550       9,201         -                  -                  
Miscellaneous 212,664     161,914     -                  812             
Special Assessments -                 -                 356,040      334,360      
Investment Earnings 4,695         4,988         -                  1,331          

Total Revenue $ 2,098,488  $ 1,965,513  $ 2,579,268   $ 2,340,723   

Governmental Activities
2013 2012 2013

Business-type Activities
2012
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Table II
Changes in Net Position

Expenses:
Sewerage $ -                 $ -                 $ 960,961      $ 838,826      
Utility Office -                 -                 125,299      108,425      
Finance -                 -                 83,610        60,157        
Solid Waste/Sanitation -                 -                 793,510      595,489      
City Hall 218,425     182,949     -                  -                  
Municipal Court 36,409       28,669       -                  -                  
Administration 182,763     228,737     -                  -                  
Public Safety Education 60              -                 
Police 1,121,082  981,097     -                  -                  
Fire Department 51,060       54,410       -                  -                  
Inspections 3,305         2,126         -                  -                  
Street, Humane and City Shop 678,130     583,328     -                  -                  
Street Lights 85,577       108,719     -                  -                  
Cemetary and Parks 210,733     172,502     -                  -                  
EMS 12,000       12,000       -                  -                  
Economic Development 52,245       50,930       
Debt Interest and Expenses 4,268         2,172         67,099        50,537        

Total Expenses $ 2,656,057  $ 2,407,639  $ 2,030,479   $ 1,653,434   

Increase (Decrease) in Net Position before 
transfers $ (557,569)    $ (442,126)    $ 548,789      $ 687,289      

Transfers 738,603     236,260     (738,603)     (236,260)     

Increase (Decrease) in Net Position $ 181,034     $ (205,866)    $ (189,814)     $ 451,029      

Net Position - October 1 1,534,390  1,726,049  3,770,455   3,315,774   
Prior Period Adjustments 2,055         14,207       -                  3,652          
Net Position - September 30 $ 1,717,479  $ 1,534,390  $ 3,580,641   $ 3,770,455   

Continued

2013 2012
Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
2013 2012

 
 
The cost of all governmental activities this year was $2,561,776. (Exhibit C-3)  However, as shown in the 
Statement of Activities on pages 10 and 11, some of the costs were paid by those who directly benefited 
from the programs ($207,919). 
 
THE CITY’S FUNDS 
 
As the City completed the year, its governmental funds (as presented in the balance sheet on page 12) 
reported a fund balance of $845,816 while it reported a fund balance of $595,566 last year.    
 
Over the course of the year, the City Council made revisions to the City’s budget.  These budget 
amendments added $548,975 to budgeted expenditures and $474,785 to budgeted revenues for the year for 
an additional budgeted decrease in fund balance for all funds of $74,190. 
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
At September 30, 2013, the City had $14,432,308 invested in a broad range of capital assets, including land, 
the water system, sewer system and the solid waste fund.  This amount represents a net increase of 
$569,253 or 4.1%.  The significant additions were the construction of the water treatment facility and the 
garbage collection equipment purchased this year. 
 
This year’s net additions included: 

 

Additions:
Riding Mower $ 9,749          
Cimline Saw 8,300          
Police Radios 31,607        
Police Console 18,584        
Solid Waste Fund Additions:
  2013 Freightliner Roll Off Truck 135,271      
  Fence at Convenience Station 16,915        
  Tractor Mower 4,500          
  Fence 4,200          
  18-3 Yard and 2-30 Yard Containers 16,786        
  2 Grey Containers 15,706        
  18-3 Yard and 2-30-Yard Containers and 60 Lids 17,956        
  Trash Trailer 4,813          
Water & Sewer Utility Fund Additions:
  Water Treatment Construction 360,480      
  Scada System 26,922        
  7 x 16 Utility Trailer 4,745          

  Total Additions $ 676,534      

Dispositions (cost):
Police Cars sold to highest bidders $ (107,281)     

Net Additions $ 569,253      

 
 
Debt 
 
The capital lease obligation with Caterpillar for the front end loader decreased by $23,875 during the year 
and the obligation was completely extinguished.  The loans for two Ford Explorers and a Ford F750 dump 
truck were decreased by $14,853 and $12,981, respectively. 
  
Issuance of General Obligation Bonds 
 
During the fiscal year ending September 30, 2008 the City passed an ordinance whereby $4,595,000 in 
General Obligation Bonds was sold to the Texas Water Development Board.  The proceeds of these bonds 
were designated to construct a new wastewater treatment system.  This construction was mandatory 
because the City’s wastewater treatment system was considered deficient under state requirements. 
  
The bond repayments are funded by a specially-assessed charge to the residents of the City who have a 
water meter connection.  The additional charge to each resident is $12 per water meter per month.  City 
managers project that the revenue from this assessment will be sufficient to make the required payments on 
the debt.   
 
As of September 30, 2013, the project was estimated to be 95% completed.  The wastewater treatment 
plant was put into service and fully functional in March 2013.  The capitalized cost for this project amounted 
to $4,505,351, which included construction costs, architect fees, capitalized construction period interest and 
other related costs.  However, due to various factors relating to the closure of the old treatment system, the 
final completion date of this project is in question. 
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Issuance of Tax Notes 
 
During the prior fiscal year, the City issued $930,000 in tax notes to fund garbage collection equipment.  The 
City terminated its contract with an outside party to collect and dispose of the city's solid waste and began 
operating the sanitation function internally in July 2012.  City administration felt citizens would be much 
better served in this capacity by City personnel.  Additionally, administration determined that the City could 
recognize some savings by taking the sanitation service in house. 
 
As of September 30, 2013, the City had expended 100% of the $930,000 bond proceeds to purchase 
equipment for its solid waste services.  
 
The bond repayments are funded by the net revenue generated by the operation of the solid waste 
collection service provided by the City and by property taxes if the net revenue generated by operations fails 
to be adequate. 
 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES 
 
The City’s elected and appointed officials considered many factors when setting the fiscal year 2013-2014 
budget and tax rate.  One of those factors is the economy and, in particular, the oil & gas industry.  The price 
of crude oil and natural gas has remained relatively high during the course of the current year, which 
substantially impacts the evaluation of properties on the mineral roll.  The City’s population has held at a 
small, steady increase in recent years, and it is possible that it may continue into the foreseeable future.  
However, administration is fully aware of the volatility of the oil and gas industry and has attempted to adopt 
a conservative approach to the City's financial operations. 
 
These indicators were taken into account when adopting the General Fund budget for 2013-2014.  Amounts 
available for appropriation in the General Fund budget are $1,803,678, a decrease of 1.16% under the final 
2012-2013 budget of $1,832,260.  Budgeted expenditures are expected to increase by 31.5% to $3,325,815 
from $2,529,649 in 2012-2013.  There was not a budgeted inter-fund transfer from the System Fund and the 
Solid Waste Fund to the General Fund for 2013-2014 in the adopted budget.  However, the adopted budget 
for the Water System Fund and Solid Waste Fund reflects ample excess revenue to subsidize the General 
Fund Operations.  City administration, as a practical matter, budgets transfers to cover the general fund 
shortfall, which is budgeted at $1,522,137. 
  
If these estimates are realized, the City’s budgetary General Fund Balance is not expected to increase or 
decrease by the close of 2013-2014 fiscal year. 
 
 
CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors with a 
general overview of the City’s finances and to show the City’s accountability for the money it receives.  If you 
have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the City’s finance office at 
the City of Kermit, 110 S. Tornillo, Kermit, Texas, 79745.    



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 



EXHIBIT A-1CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Control

Data

Codes
Governmental

Activities Activities

Type

Business

Total

Primary Government

ASSETS

894,0381,063,168 1,957,206Cash and Cash Equivalents $ $ $1010

230,944178,024 408,968Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles)1150

Restricted Assets:

951,75828,527 980,285Temp. Restrictied Asset (specify)1611

Capital Assets:

6,30074,664 80,964  Land1710

-356,394 356,394  Infrastructure, net1720

9,56273,092 82,654  Buildings, net1730

5,164,682- 5,164,682  Improvements other than Buildings, net1740

1,093,135431,458 1,524,593  Machinery and Equipment, net1750

Total Assets1000 2,205,327 8,350,419 10,555,746

LIABILITIES
191,398396,462 587,860Accounts Payable2020

13,878- 13,878Accrued Interest Payable2140

149,502- 149,502Payable from Restricted Assets2400

Noncurrent Liabilities

355,00028,672 383,672   Due Within One Year2501

4,060,00062,714 4,122,714   Due in More Than One Year2502

Total Liabilities2000 487,848 4,769,778 5,257,626

NET POSITION

1,858,678844,222 2,702,900Net Investment in Capital Assets3200

461,91322,987 484,900  Restricted by Enabling Legislation3810

1,260,050850,270 2,110,320Unrestricted Net Position3900

Total Net Position3000 1,717,479 3,580,641 5,298,120$ $ $

9
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



  
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Control

Data

Codes
Expenses Services

Charges for

Program Revenues

Primary Government:

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES:

-218,425City Hall $ $11

-36,409Municipal Court12

-182,763Administration13

5151,121,082Police Department21

-51,060Fire Department22

-3,305Inspections24

-60Child Safety Education25

115,404678,130Street, Humane and City Shop Departments30

-85,577Street Lighting31

92,000210,733Parks and Cemetary33

-12,000County Ambulance40

-52,245Economic Development and Assistance65

-952Capital Lease Interest Payments73

-3,316Other Debt Interest74

2,656,057 207,919Total Governmental Activities:

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES:

1,485,6761,215,986Water Utility System701

737,552814,494Solid Waste Fund702

2,030,480 2,223,228Total Business-Type Activities:

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT: 4,686,537 2,431,147$ $

Data
Control
Codes

General Revenues:

Taxes:

    Property Taxes, Levied for General Purposes5010

Sales Taxes5120

Franchise Taxes5170

Other Taxes5180

Penalty and Interest5190

Grants and Contributions Not Restricted5600

Miscellaneous Revenue5700

Investment Earnings5800

Transfers In (Out)5800

Total General Revenues and Transfers  

Net Position - Beginning

Change in Net Position

Net Position--Ending

Prior Period Adjustment

10
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT B-1

Net (Expense) Revenue and

Activities Activities

Business-type

Total

Governmental

Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

-(218,425) (218,425)$ $ $
-(36,409) (36,409)
-(182,763) (182,763)
-(1,120,567) (1,120,567)
-(51,060) (51,060)
-(3,305) (3,305)
-(60) (60)
-(562,726) (562,726)
-(85,577) (85,577)
-(118,733) (118,733)
-(12,000) (12,000)
-(52,245) (52,245)
-(952) (952)
-(3,316) (3,316)

(2,448,138) - (2,448,138)

269,690- 269,690
(76,942)- (76,942)

- 192,748 192,748

(2,448,138) 192,748 (2,255,390)

-605,506 605,506
-734,216 734,216
-245,703 245,703
-30,215 30,215
-34,020 34,020
-23,550 23,550

356,040212,664 568,704
-4,695 4,695

(738,603)738,603 -

2,629,172 (382,563) 2,246,609

181,034

1,534,390

1,717,479$

(189,815)

3,889,106

3,580,641$

(8,781)

5,423,496

5,298,120$

2,055 (118,650) (116,595)

11



EXHIBIT C-1
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Control

Data

Codes

General

Fund Funds

Other

Funds

Governmental

Total

ASSETS
  -    1,063,168 1,063,168 Cash and Cash Equivalents $ $ $1010

  -    169,729 169,729 Taxes Receivable1050

  -    (4,449) (4,449)Allowance for Uncollectible Taxes (credit)1051

2,376 10,368 12,744 Receivables (Net)1150

28,527   -    28,527 Temporarily Restricted Cash1611

Total Assets1000 1,238,816 30,903 1,269,719 $ $ $

LIABILITIES
7,916 115,106 123,022 Accounts Payable $ $ $2010

  -    68,969 68,969 Wages and Salaries Payable2020

  -    66,632 66,632 Compensated Absences Payable2030

Total Liabilities2000 250,707 7,916 258,623 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
  -    165,280 165,280   Unavailable Revenue - Property Taxes2601

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources2600 165,280   -    165,280 

FUND BALANCES
22,987   -    22,987     Restricted by Enabling Legislation3460

  -    822,829 822,829 Unassigned Fund Balance3600

Total Fund Balances3000 822,829 22,987 845,816 

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows & Fund Balances4000 1,238,816 30,903 1,269,719 $ $ $

12

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT C-2
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET TO THE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

845,816$Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

768,882Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and 
therefore are not reported in governmental funds.  At the beginning of the year, the 
cost of these assets was $4,560,233 and the accumulated depreciation was 
$3,515,269.  In addition, long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current 
period, and, therefore are not reported as liabilities in the funds.  The net effect of 
including the beginning balances for capital assets (net of depreciation) and long-term 
debt in the governmental activities is to increase (decrease) net position.

113,385Current year capital outlays and long-term debt principal payments are expenditures in
the fund financial statements,but they should be shown as increases in capital assets 
and reductions in long-term debt in the government-wide financial statements.  The 
net effect of including the 2013 capital outlays and debt principal payments is to 
increase (decrease) net position.

(175,884)The 2013 depreciation expense increases accumulated depreciation.  The net effect 
of the current year's depreciation is to decrease net position.

165,280Various other reclassifications and eliminations are necessary to convert from the 
modified accrual basis of accounting to accrual basis of accounting.  These include 
recognizing deferred revenue as revenue. The net effect of these reclassifications and
recognitions is to increase (decrease) net position.

1,717,479$Net Position of Governmental Activities

13

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT C-3
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Control

Data

Codes

General

Fund Funds

Other

Funds

Governmental

Total

REVENUES:

Taxes:
-610,168 610,168Property Taxes $ $ $5110

-734,216 734,216General Sales and Use Taxes5120

-245,703 245,703Franchise Tax5170

30,215- 30,215Other Taxes5180

-34,020 34,020Penalty and Interest on Taxes5190

-34,817 34,817Licenses and Permits5200

-174,419 174,419Charges for Services5400

7,076137,750 144,826Fines5510

-4,695 4,695Investment Earnings5610

-23,550 23,550Contributions & Donations from Private Sources5640

-25,335 25,335Other Revenue5700

     Total Revenues5020 2,024,673 37,291 2,061,964

EXPENDITURES:

Current:

General Government:
-192,106 192,106City Hall0011

3,15733,252 36,409Municipal Court0012

-182,513 182,513Administration0013

Public Safety:
-1,096,884 1,096,884Police Department0021

-51,060 51,060Fire Department0022

-3,305 3,305Inspections0024

60- 60Child Safety Education0025

-612,751 612,751Street, Humane and City Shop Departments0030

-85,577 85,577Street Lighting0031

-214,385 214,385Parks and Cemetary0033

-12,000 12,000County Ambulance0040

Conservation and Development:
30,27921,966 52,245Economic Development and Tourism0065

Debt Service:
-23,875 23,875Capital Lease Principal Payments0071

-27,834 27,834Other Debt Principal0072

-952 952Capital Lease Interest Payments0073

-3,316 3,316Other Debt Interest0074

     Total Expenditures6030 2,561,776 33,496 2,595,272

1100 Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
     Expenditures

(537,103) 3,795 (533,308)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES): 
-42,900 42,900Sale of Real and Personal Property7912

-738,603 738,603Transfers In7915

     Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 7080 781,503 - 781,503

14
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT C-3 (Cont'd)
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Control

Data

Codes

General

Fund Funds

Other

Funds

Governmental

Total

1200 Net Change in Fund Balances 244,400 3,795 248,195

0100 Fund Balance - October 1 (Beginning) 595,566 - 595,566

1300 Restatements and Prior Period Adjustments (17,137) 19,192 2,055

3000 Fund Balance - September 30 (Ending) $ 822,829 $ 22,987 $ 845,816

15
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT C-4
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

248,195$Total Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

113,385Current year capital outlays and long-term debt principal payments are expenditures in 
the fund financial statements, but they should be shown as increases in capital assets and 
reductions in long-term debt in the government-wide financial statements.  The net effect
of removing the 2013 capital outlays and debt principal payments is to increase 
(decrease) the change in net position.

(175,884)Depreciation is not recognized as an expense in governmental funds since it does not 
require the use of current financial resources.  The net effect of the current year's 
depreciation is to decrease the change in net position.

(4,662)Various other reclassifications and eliminations are necessary to convert from the 
modified accrual basis of accounting to accrual basis of accounting.  These include 
recognizing deferred revenue as revenue, adjusting current year revenue to show the 
revenue earned from the current year's tax levy, eliminating interfund transactions, and 
recognizing the liabilities associated with maturing long-term debt and interest.  The net 
effect of these reclassifications and recognitions is to increase (decrease) the change in 
net position.

181,034$ Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities

16

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT C-5CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Control

Data

Codes Original Final

(GAAP BASIS)

(Negative)

Positive or
Final Budget

Variance WithActual Amounts

Budgeted Amounts

REVENUES:
Taxes:

607,091600,000 610,168 3,077Property Taxes $ $ $ $5110

576,629550,000 734,216 157,587General Sales and Use Taxes5120

245,710220,000 245,703 (7)Franchise Tax5170

32,97529,000 34,020 1,045Penalty and Interest on Taxes5190

32,61116,025 34,817 2,206Licenses and Permits5200

168,700168,700 174,419 5,719Charges for Services5400

133,244103,000 137,750 4,506Fines5510

5,0005,000 4,695 (305)Investment Earnings5610

200200 - (200)Rents and Royalties5620

6,0006,000 23,550 17,550Contributions & Donations from Private Sources5640

24,10024,100 25,335 1,235Other Revenue5700

     Total Revenues5020 1,722,025 1,832,260 2,024,673 192,413

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

-23,020 - -General Government0010

176,100134,826 192,106 (16,006)City Hall0011

32,89227,332 33,252 (360)Municipal Court0012

184,662167,562 182,513 2,149Administration0013

Public Safety:
1,038,408944,113 1,096,884 (58,476)Police Department0021

55,49463,844 51,060 4,434Fire Department0022

3,8002,400 3,305 495Inspections0024

643,754668,954 612,751 31,003Street, Humane and City Shop Departments0030

86,200103,000 85,577 623Street Lighting0031

217,901205,244 214,385 3,516Parks and Cemetary0033

12,00012,000 12,000 -County Ambulance0040

Conservation and Development:
22,460- 21,966 494Economic Development and Tourism0065

Debt Service:
52,03052,030 23,875 28,155Capital Lease Principal Payments0071

-- 27,834 (27,834)Other Debt Principal0072

3,9483,948 952 2,996Capital Lease Interest Payments0073

-- 3,316 (3,316)Other Debt Interest0074

     Total Expenditures6030 2,408,273 2,529,649 2,561,776 (32,127)

1100 Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues  Over (Under) 
     Expenditures

(686,248) (697,389) (537,103) 160,286

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES): 
30,00030,000 42,900 12,900Sale of Real and Personal Property7912

675,000685,000 738,603 63,603Transfers In7915

-(10,000) - -Transfers Out (Use)8911

     Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 7080 705,000 705,000 781,503 76,503

1200 Net Change in Fund Balances 18,752 7,611 244,400 236,789
0100 Fund Balance - October 1 (Beginning) 595,566 595,566 595,566 -

1300 Restatements and Prior Period Adjustments - - (17,137) (17,137)

3000 Fund Balance - September 30 (Ending) $ 614,318 $ 603,177 $ 822,829 $ 219,652
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The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT D-1
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Solid Total

Utility Waste Enterprise

System Fund Funds

ASSETS

Current Assets:
70,237823,801 894,038Cash and Cash Equivalents $ $ $

Restricted Assets - Current:
-951,758 951,758Temporarily Restricted Cash

69,094161,850 230,944Accounts Receivable-Net of Uncollectible Allowance

1,937,409 139,331 2,076,740Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets:
Capital Assets:

-6,300 6,300Land Purchase and Improvements
-13,909 13,909Buildings
-(4,347) (4,347)  Accumulated Depreciation - Buildings
-8,111,303 8,111,303Improvements other than Buildings
-(2,946,621) (2,946,621)  Accumulated Depreciation - Other Improvements

1,009,816769,790 1,779,606Machinery and Equipment
(118,972)(567,499) (686,471)  Accumulated Depreciation - Machinery & Equipment

5,382,835 890,844 6,273,679Total Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets 7,320,244 1,030,175 8,350,419

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:
50,22640,597 90,823Accounts Payable
13,29758,743 72,040Wages and Salaries Payable
4,65323,882 28,535Compensated Absences Payable
2,45311,425 13,878Accrued Interest Payable

150,000- 150,000Bonds Payable - Current
-205,000 205,000Revenue Bonds Payable

Payable from Restricted Assets - Current:
-149,502 149,502Meter Deposits Payable

489,149 220,629 709,778Total Current Liabilities

NonCurrent Liabilities:
Bonds Payable - Non-Current:

635,0003,425,000 4,060,000Revenue Bonds Payable

3,425,000 635,000 4,060,000Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities 3,914,149 855,629 4,769,778

NET POSITION
105,8441,752,834 1,858,678Net Investment in Capital Assets

-461,913 461,913   Restricted by Debt Covenants
68,7021,191,348 1,260,050Unrestricted Net Position

Total Net Position 3,406,095 174,546 3,580,641$ $ $
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The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT D-2 (Cont'd)
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water
Utility

System Fund

Waste
Solid

Funds

Enterprise
Total

OPERATING REVENUES:

-1,000,110 1,000,110Charges for Water Services $ $ $
-363,900 363,900Charges for Sewerage Service

-8,100 8,100Tapping Fees

-31,146 31,146Reconnect Fees

-82,420 82,420Charges for Late Payments

737,552- 737,552Sanitation Charges for Services

-911 911Investment Earnings

-8,902 8,902Other Revenue

Total Operating Revenues 1,495,489 737,552 2,233,041

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Water/Sewer Department

-328,006 328,006Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages

-146,327 146,327Personnel Services - Employee Benefits

-19,867 19,867Purchased Professional & Technical Services

-182,454 182,454Purchased Property Services

-5,354 5,354Other Operating Expenses

-110,568 110,568Supplies
Total Water/Sewer Department 792,576 - 792,576

Utility Office

-55,843 55,843Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages

-24,327 24,327Personnel Services - Employee Benefits

-30,082 30,082Purchased Professional & Technical Services

-6,473 6,473Purchased Property Services

-4,807 4,807Other Operating Expenses

-3,767 3,767Supplies
Total Utility Office 125,299 - 125,299

Finance

-46,334 46,334Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages

-20,449 20,449Personnel Services - Employee Benefits

-15,215 15,215Purchased Professional & Technical Services

-118 118Other Operating Expenses

-1,494 1,494Supplies
Total Finance 83,610 - 83,610

Solid Waste

202,322- 202,322Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages

77,461- 77,461Personnel Services - Employee Benefits

15,581- 15,581Purchased Professional & Technical Services

52,704- 52,704Purchased Property Services

238,593- 238,593Other Operating Expenses

118,934- 118,934Supplies
Total Solid Waste - 705,595 705,595

87,915168,385 256,300Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses 1,169,870 793,510 1,963,380

19

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT D-2
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water
Utility

System Fund

Waste
Solid

Funds

Enterprise
Total

Operating Income (Loss) 325,619 (55,958) 269,661

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

-346,227 346,227Special Assessments for Revenue Bonds

-(800) (800)Agency Fees on Bond Revenue Fund

-(66) (66)Other Expenses for Bond Revenue Fund

(20,984)(45,250) (66,234)Bond Interest Expense

Total Non-operating Revenue (Expenses) 300,111 (20,984) 279,127

Income (Loss) Before Transfers 625,730 (76,942) 548,788

  314,294- 314,294Non-Operating Transfer In

(74,247)(978,650) (1,052,897)Transfers Out

  Change in Net Position

Total Net Position - October 1 (Beginning)

Restatements and Prior Period Adjustments

Total Net Position - September 30 (Ending)

(352,920)

3,857,406

(98,391)

$ 3,406,095

163,105

31,700

(20,259)

$ 174,546

(189,815)

3,889,106

(118,650)

$ 3,580,641
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EXHIBIT D-3CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Water Solid Total

Utility Waste Enterprise

System Fund Funds

Business-Type Activities

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities:

(74,247)(978,650) (1,052,897)Operating Transfer Out
314,294- 314,294Operating Transfers In

(978,650)
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Non-Capital

240,047 (738,603)Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Capital & Related Financing Activities:

(216,147)(31,667) (247,814)Acquisition of Capital Assets
-(312,628) (312,628)Construction Costs
-346,227 346,227Special Assessments for Revenue Bonds
-98 98Interest Earnings on Bond-Related Cash

(145,000)(200,000) (345,000)Bond Principal Retirements
(21,437)(93,200) (114,637)Bond Interest Paid

-(800) (800)Bond Maintenance Costs
-(66) (66)Other Bond-Related Costs

(292,036)
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Capital &

(382,584) (674,620)Related Financing Activities

Net Increase(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (878,300) (98,407) (976,707)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Year: 2,653,859 168,644 2,822,503

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year: 1,775,559 70,237 1,845,796$ $ $

Operating Income (Loss): $ $ $

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash

325,619 (55,958) 269,661

Provided By Operating Activities:

to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income

87,915168,385 256,300Depreciation

Assets and Liabilities:
Effect of Increases and Decreases in Current

(1,098)(17,877) (18,975)Decrease (increase) in Receivables
4,223(97,790) (93,567)Increase (decrease) in Accounts Payable
9,0489,289 18,337Increase (decrease) in Payroll-Related Payables

-4,760 4,760Increase (decrease) in Meter Deposits
Net Cash Provided by Operating

44,130 436,516Activities 392,386$ $ $

21

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 
 
 

I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 
The City of Kermit, Texas (the “City”) is a municipal corporation under the applicable laws and regulations of the State 
of Texas.  It has a Council – Manager Form of government with the Council Members and Mayor being elected by 
registered voters of the City.  The City Manager is appointed by the City Council and serves as to the Council needs.  
The Mayor presides over the council meetings but holds no voting power.  The City prepares its basic financial 
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles promulgated by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board and other authoritative literature; and it complies with the requirements of the appropriate version of 
Texas’s uniform accounting requirements and the requirements of contracts and grants of agencies from which it 
receives funds.   
 
A. REPORTING ENTITY 
 
The public elects the Mayor and Council.  The Council has the authority to make decisions, appoint administrators 
and managers, and significantly influence operations.  They also have the primary accountability for fiscal matters.  
Therefore, the City is a financial reporting entity as defined by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
("GASB") in its Statement No. 14, "The financial Reporting Entity". 
 
B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities are government-wide financial statements.  They report 
information on all of the City of Kermit, Texas activities with most of the inter-fund activities removed.  Governmental 
Activities include programs supported primarily by taxes, grants, and other inter-governmental revenues.  Business-
type activities include operations that rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.   
 
The Statement of Activities demonstrates how other people or entities that participate in programs the City operates 
have shared in the payment of the direct costs.  The “charges for services” column includes payments made by 
parties that purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods or services provided by a given function or segment of the 
City.  The “grants and contributions” columns include amounts paid by organizations outside the City to help meet the 
operational and capital requirements of a given function.  If revenue is not program revenue, it is general revenue 
used to support all of the City’s functions.  Taxes are always general revenue. 
 
Inter-fund activities between governmental funds and proprietary funds appear as due to/due from on the 
Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the Proprietary Fund Statement of Net Position and as other resources and 
other uses on the governmental fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance and on 
the Proprietary Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position.  All inter-fund 
transactions between governmental funds are eliminated on the government-wide statements.  Inter-fund activities 
between governmental funds and enterprise funds remain on the government-wide statements and appear on the 
government-wide Statement of Net Position as internal balances and on the Statement of Activities as inter-fund 
transfers.   
 
The fund financial statements provide reports on the financial condition and results of operations for two fund 
categories – governmental and proprietary.  The City considers some governmental and proprietary funds major and 
reports their financial condition and results of operations in a separate column. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  Operating revenues result 
from providing goods and services in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations; they usually 
come from exchange or exchange-like transactions.  All other revenues are non-operating.  Operating expenses can 
be tied specifically to the production of the goods and services, such as materials, labor, and direct overhead.  Other 
expenses are non-operating. 
 
 
C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION 
 
The government-wide financial statements use the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting, as do the proprietary fund financial statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of timing of the related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
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C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION - 

continued 
 
Governmental fund financial statements use the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified 
accrual basis of accounting.  With this measurement focus, only current assets, current liabilities, and fund balances 
are included on the balance sheet.  Operating statements of these funds present net increases and decreases in 
current assets (i.e., revenues and other financing resources and expenditures and other financing uses). 
 
The modified accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues in the accounting period in which they become both 
measurable and available, and it recognizes expenditures in the accounting period in which the fund liability is 
incurred, if measurable, except for un-matured interest and principal on long-term debt, which is recognized when 
due.  The expenditures related to certain compensated absences and claims and judgments are recognized when the 
obligations are expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources.  The City considers all 
revenues available if they are collectible within 60 days after year-end.   
 
Revenues from local sources consist primarily of property taxes and sales taxes.  Property tax, sales tax, and 
revenues received from the State are recognized under the “susceptible to accrual” concept, that is, when they are 
both measurable and available.  The City considers them “available” if they will be collected within 60 days of the end 
of the fiscal year.  Miscellaneous revenues are recorded as revenue when received in cash because they are 
generally not measurable until actually received.  Investment earnings are recorded as earned, since they are both 
measurable and available. 
 
Grant funds are considered to be earned to the extent of expenditures made under the provisions of the grant.  
Accordingly, when such funds are received, they are recorded as deferred revenues until related and authorized 
expenditures have been made.  If the balance has not been expended by the end of the project period, grantors 
sometimes require the city to refund all or part of the unused amount. 
 
The Proprietary Fund Types are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement focus and utilize the 
accrual basis of accounting.  This basis of accounting recognizes revenues in the accounting period in which they are 
earned and become measurable and expenses in the accounting period in which they are incurred and become 
measurable.  The City applies all Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.  With this 
measurement focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the operations of these funds are included on the 
fund Statement of Net Position.  The fund equity is segregated into (1) investments in capital assets, net of related 
debt, (2) restricted by enabling legislation and (3) unrestricted net position. 
 
D. FUND ACCOUNTING 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

General Fund – The general fund is the City’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial resources 
except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
Special Revenue Funds – The City accounts for resources restricted to, or designated for, specific purposes 
by the City or a grantor in a special revenue fund.  Most Federal and some State financial assistance are 
accounted for in a special revenue fund, and sometimes, unused balances must be returned to the grantor 
at the close of specified project periods. 

 
The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 
 

Water and Sewer Fund – The Water and Sewer Fund is used to account for the provision of water and 
sewer services to the residents of the City.  All activities necessary to provide such services are accounted 
for in this fund, including administration, operations, maintenance, financing and billing and collection.  
Included in the Water and Sewer Fund are deposits required to open a utility account.  The deposits 
received to open an account are restricted as to use and considered a current liability of the Fund. 
 
Solid Waste Fund - The Solid Waste Fund is used to account for the trash collection and disposal of solid 
waste of the residents of the City.  All activities necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this 
fund including operations, maintenance and financing. 
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E. OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
1. For purposes of the statement of cash flows for proprietary funds, the City considers highly liquid 
 investments to be cash equivalents if they have a maturity of twelve months or less when purchased. 
 
2. Net position on the Statement of Net Position includes the following: 
  

• Net investment in capital assets - the component of net position that reports capital assets less 
both the accumulated depreciation and the outstanding balance of debt and is directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of these capital assets. 

• Restricted by debt covenants - the component of net position that may not be spent without specific 
authorization by the oversight agency, Texas Water Development Board, and must adhere to 
requirements of the debt covenant issued pursuant to bond indebtedness. 

• Restricted by enabling legislation - the component of net position that reports the funds received 
from taxpayers, defendants and various other entities that were legally imposed taxes or fees by 
statutes or local taxpayer election.  These funds are restricted as to use and ultimate disposal.   

• Unrestricted net position - the difference between the assets and liabilities that are not reported in 
net position net investment in capital assets, or restricted net position. 

• Net position flow assumptions - Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from 
both restricted (e.g., grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources.  In order to calculate the amounts 
to report as restricted - net position and unrestricted - net position in the government-wide and 
proprietary fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the 
resources are considered to be applied.  It is the City's policy to consider restricted - net position to 
have been depleted before unrestricted - net position is applied. 

 
. The City employs FASB Statement 54 "Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions".  

This statement provides more clearly defined fund balance categories to make the nature and extent of the 
constraints placed on a government's fund balance more transparent.  The following classifications describe 
the relative strength of the spending constraints placed on the purposes for which resources can be used: 

 
• Non-spendable fund balance - amounts that are not in a spendable form (such as inventory) or are 

required to be maintained intact; 
• Restricted fund balance - amounts constrained to specific purposes by their providers (such as 

grantors, bondholders, and higher levels of government), through constitutional provisions, or by 
enabling legislation; 

• Committed fund balance - amounts constrained to specific purposes by a government itself, using 
its highest level of decision-making authority, to be reported as committed, amounts cannot be 
used for any other purpose unless the government takes the same highest level action to remove 
or change the constraint; 

• Assigned fund balance - amounts a government intends to use for a specific purpose; intent can be 
expressed by a governing body or by an official or body to which the governing body delegates the 
authority; 

• Unassigned fund balance - amounts that are available for any purpose, positive amounts are 
reported only in the general fund. 

  
The City Council establishes (and modifies or rescinds) fund balance commitments by passage of an 
ordinance or resolution.  Assigned fund balance is delegated by the Council to the City Manager or his 
designee. 
 
When restricted and other fund balance resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use 
restricted resources first, followed by committed, assigned and unassigned amounts, respectively. 

 
3. In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 

long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type financial statement of net position.   

 
4. It is the City’s policy to permit full-time employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick pay 

benefits.  These employees may accumulate up to 240 hours of unused vacation benefits and up to 720 
hours of unused sick leave benefits.  Unused sick leave benefits will not be paid to the employees upon 
resignation or termination of employment.   
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E. OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 
 

An estimate is made of the amount of accumulated vacation benefits that will be paid within one year.  This 
estimate is recorded as a current liability on the governmental fund financial statements.  The remainder of 
the vacation benefits, if any, is reported as a long-term liability on the government-wide financial statements.  
The accumulated vacation benefits are reported as a current liability on the Statement of Net Position in the 
Proprietary Fund.   

 
5. Capital assets, which include land, buildings, furniture and equipment, and infrastructure, are reported in the 

applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements.  
The City defines capital assets as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an 
estimated useful life of more than one year.  Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated 
historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market 
value at the date of donation. 

 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend 
assets lives are not capitalized.  Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as 
projects are constructed. 
 
Buildings, furniture, and equipment of the City and its component unit are depreciated using the straight-line 
method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 
 

Assets Years

Buildings 22 to 45
Building Improvements 15
Infrastructure 10 to 45
Water & Sewer System 10 to 45
Office Equipment 7 to 10
Computer Equipment 5 to 10  

 
6. Deferred outflows/inflows of resources 
  
 In addition to assets, the statements of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 

deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of revenues, 
represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as 
an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  The City does not have an item that qualifies for 
reporting in this category. 

 
 In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 

deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an 
inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The government has only one type of item, which arises only 
under a modified accrual basis of accounting, which qualifies for reporting in this category.  Accordingly, the 
item, unavailable revenue, is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet.  The governmental 
funds report unavailable revenue from one source:  property taxes.  These amounts are deferred and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. 

 
7. Effective the current fiscal year, the City has implemented the following new standards: 
 

GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-
November 30, 1989 FASB & AICPA Pronouncements, which incorporates into the GASB's authoritative 
literature certain accounting and financial guidance that is included in the following pronouncements issued 
on or before November 30, 1989, which does not conflict or contradict GASB pronouncements:  1.) Financial 
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statements and Interpretations; 2.) Accounting Principles Board 
Opinions; and 3.) Accounting Research Bulletins of the AICPA Committee on Accounting Procedure. 
 



26 
 

E. OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 
 
GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of 
Resources, and Net Position, amends the net asset reporting requirements in Statement No. 34 and other 
pronouncements by incorporating deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources into the 
definitions of the required components of the residual measure and by renaming that measure as net 
position rather than net position. 
 
GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities, establishes accounting and 
financial reporting standards that reclassify, as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources, certain items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities and recognizes, as outflows 
of resources and inflows of resources, certain items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities. 
 

II. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
BUDGETARY DATA 
 
The City Council adopts an “appropriated budget” for the General Fund and System Fund.  The City is required to 
present the adopted and final amended budgeted revenues and expenditures for each of these funds.  The City 
compares the final amended budget to actual revenues and expenditures.  The General Fund Budget report appears 
in Exhibit C-5 and the Water System Fund Budget and Solid Waste System Budget reports appear in Exhibit F-1 and 
F-2. 
 
The normal course of establishing the budgetary data reflected in the basic financial statements is as follows: 
 

1. Prior to September 1, the City Manager submits to the City council a proposed operating budget for 
the fiscal year commencing the following October 1.  The operating budget includes proposed 
expenditures and the means of financing them for the upcoming year, along with estimates for the 
current year and the actual data for the preceding year. 

 
2. A meeting of the City Council is then called for the purpose of adopting the proposed budget.  At 

least ten days’ public notice of the meeting must be given. 
 

3. Prior to October 1, the Council legally enacts the budget through passage of a resolution.  Once a 
budget is approved, it can only be amended at the function and fund level by approval of a majority 
of the members of the Council.  Amendments are presented to the Council at its regular meetings.  
Each amendment must have Council approval.  As required by law, such amendments are made 
before the fact, are reflected in the official minutes of the Council, and are not made after fiscal 
year-end.  
 

The City Council approved and adopted the budget for the year ending September 30, 2013 on October 18, 2012.   
 

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACCOUNT GROUPS 
 
A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
At September 30, 2013, the carrying amount of the City’s deposits with the designated depository bank was 
$2,067,211 and the bank balance was $2,062,575.  The City’s cash deposits with the designated depository bank at 
September 30, 2013 and the City’s deposits on the day of the highest daily cash balance, October 2, 2012 were 
adequately covered by FDIC insurance or by pledged collateral by the depository bank. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents held by the City at September 30, 2013 other than operating deposits held by the City’s 
agent bank include: 

 

Tejas Bank CD $ 102,588
TexPool 142
TexSTAR (LGIP) 114
TexSTAR Escrow 140,685
Txbank CD 252,495
West Texas State Bank CD 105,086
West Texas Community Credit Union Regular Shares 185
West Texas Community Credit Union CD 123,274
Crockett National Bank CD 100,000

$ 824,569
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A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS - continued 
 
The City also had approximately $779 in petty cash on hand at September 30, 2013. 
 
Restricted Cash 
 
The City has the following balances in cash accounts that are restricted as to use: 
 

Restricted by enabling legislation:
Municipal Court Security Fund $ 7,960
Court Technology Fund 1,036
Child Safety Fund Cash 7,369
Hotel/Motel Fund 12,162
  Total $ 28,527

Restricted by debt covenants:
Wastewater Sewer Bond $ 338,422
Wastewater Construction 322,650
Wastewater Escrow 140,685
  Total $ 801,757

Other Restricted
Meter Deposits by Customers $ 150,001

Total temporarily restricted cash $ 980,285

 
 
 

Municipal Court Security Fund:  The City is allowed by state law to assess a fee to a convicted defendant to be 
applied towards maintenance of court security.  All funds generated by these fees are restricted to expenditures for 
maintenance and upgrading of the court’s security system. 
 
Court Technology Fund:  The City is allowed by state law to assess a fee to a convicted defendant to be applied 
towards maintenance of the Municipal Court’s technology system.  All funds generated by these fees are restricted to 
expenditures for maintenance and upgrading of the court’s technology system. 
 
Child Safety Fund:  The City receives fine revenues from offenders of the child restraint statutes.  These fines must 
be separately accounted for and may only be used to further child safety education and support for the citizens of the 
City. 
 
Hotel/Motel:  The City receives excise taxes from lodging establishments located within the City.  These funds are 
used to support the local Chamber of Commerce and to promote tourism for the City and the immediately 
surrounding area. 
 
Water Meter Deposits:  The City charges residents a deposit whenever a new utility account is opened.  This deposit 
does not belong to the City; it is money held by the City on behalf of its residents that will ultimately be refunded 
whenever utility accounts are closed.  This cash cannot be used for any other purpose.  An offsetting liability for this 
amount is reflected in the Proprietary Fund financial statements and government-wide financial statements. 
 
Wastewater Construction Cash:  This account may only be used for payment of construction costs of the wastewater 
treatment plant. 
 
Wastewater Sewer Bond Payment Cash:  This account may only be used to pay down interest and principal on 
bonds per the bond payment schedule.  This account is funded by special assessments imposed on the City’s 
residents relating to the water system and by interest earnings. 
 
Wastewater Escrow Cash:  This account contains money received from issuing the general obligation bonds that will 
be used to construct the wastewater treatment plant.  No money can be disbursed from this account without proper 
prior approval from the Texas Water Development Board.  Under the bond’s contractual provisions, this money must 
earn a competitive rate of interest to help offset costs of the construction.  Cash from this account will be transferred 
to the construction account on proper approval. 
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A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS - continued 
 
Custodial Credit Risk for Deposits - State law requires governmental entities to contract with financial institutions in 
which funds will be deposited to secure those deposits with insurance or pledged securities with a fair value equaling 
or exceeding the amount on deposit at the end of each business day.  The pledged securities must be in the name of 
the governmental entity and held by the entity or its agent bank. The City was at risk at a minimum of $486 and a 
maximum of $2,495 during the year for deposits held in a certificate of deposit held at TxBank during the year.  At 
September 30, 2013, the custodial risk for that certificate of deposit was $2,495. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk - The City has no investments or deposits of a foreign currency. 
 
City Policies and Legal and Contractual Provisions Governing Investments 
 
Compliance with the Public Funds Investment Act 
 
The Public Funds Investment Act (Government Code Chapter 2256) contains specific provisions in the areas of 
investment practices, management reports, and establishment of appropriate policies.  Among other things, it 
requires the City to adopt, implement, and publicize an investment policy.  That policy must address the following 
areas:  (1) safety or principal and liquidity, (2) portfolio diversification, (3) allowable investments, (4) acceptable risk 
levels, (5) expected rates of return, (6) maximum allowable stated maturity of portfolio investments, (7) maximum 
average dollar-weighted maturity allowed based on the state maturity date for the portfolio, (8) investment staff quality 
and capabilities, (9) and bid solicitation preferences for certificates of deposit.   
 
Statutes authorize the City to invest in (1) obligations of the U.S. Treasury, certain U.S. agencies, and the State of 
Texas, (2) certificates of deposit, (3) certain municipal securities, (4) money market savings accounts, (5) repurchase 
agreements, (6) bankers acceptances, (7) mutual funds, (8) investment pools, (9) guaranteed investment contracts, 
(10) and common trust funds.  The Act also requires the City to have independent auditors perform test procedures 
related to investment practices as provided by the Act.  The City is in substantial compliance with the requirements of 
the Act and with local policies. 
 
The City's cash equivalents consist of Certificates of Deposit with maturities of less than 180 days and balances held 
by TexSTAR and TexPool.   The City has no temporary or long-term investments. 
 
Texas Short Term Asset Reserve Program (“TexSTAR”) has been organized in conformity with the Interlocal 
Cooperation Act, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code, and the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256 
of the Texas Government Code.  JP Morgan Fleming Asset Management (USA), Inc. (“JPMFAM”) and First 
Southwest Asset Management, Inc. (“FSAM”) serve as co-administrators for TexSTAR under an agreement with the 
TexSTAR board of directors.  JPMFAM provides investment services, and FSAM provides participant services and 
marketing.  Custodial, transfer agency, fund accounting and depository services are provided by JPMorgan Chase 
Bank and/or its subsidiary, J.P. Morgan Investor Services Co.  The TexSTAR Cash Reserve Fund is designed to be 
used by participants for investment of funds that require daily liquidity availability.  TexSTAR is currently rated AAAm 
by Standard and Poor’s.  The state objective of TexSTAR is to maintain a stable average $1.00 per unit net asset 
value; however the $1.00 net asset value is not guaranteed or insured by TexSTAR, its board, the co-administrators, 
their agents or any governmental or other entity. 
 
TexPool is a local government investment pool created on behalf of Texas entities whose investment objectives are 
preservation and safety of principal, liquidity and yield consistent with the Public Funds Investment Act. TexPool 
currently provides investment services to over 2,000 communities throughout the State.   TexPool is currently rated 
AAAm by Standard and Poor’s.  These funds represent an investment in a pool and are not categorized as to risk 
because they are not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form 
 
 
B. PROPERTY TAXES 
 
Property taxes are levied by October 1 on the assessed value listed as of the prior January 1 for all real and business 
personal property located in the City in conformity with Subtitle E, Texas Property Tax Code.  Taxes are due on 
receipt of the tax bill and are delinquent if not paid before February 1 of the year following the year in which imposed.  
On January 31 of each year, a tax lien attaches to property to secure the payment of all taxes, penalties, and interest 
ultimately imposed.  Property tax revenues are considered available (1) when they become due or past due and 
receivable within the current period and (2) when they are expected to be collected during a 60-day period after the 
close of the fiscal year. 
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C. DELINQUENT TAXES RECEIVABLE 
 
Delinquent taxes are prorated between maintenance and debt service (if applicable) based on rates adopted for the 
year of the levy.  Allowance for uncollectible tax receivables within the General and Debt Service Funds are based on 
historical experience in collecting property taxes.  Over the past several years, there has been no debt service tax 
rate; therefore, all taxes are maintenance and are reported in the General Fund.  Uncollectible personal property 
taxes are periodically reviewed and written off, but the City is prohibited from writing off real property taxes without 
specific statutory authority from the Texas Legislature. 
 
D. INTER-FUND BALANCES AND TRANSFERS 
 
The City recorded the following inter-fund transfers for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013: 

 Transfers  Transfers 
 In  Out  Purpose 

Transfers from Water Utility System to:
Solid Waste Fund $ 314,294  Supplement Solid Waste Activities 
General Fund 664,356  Supplement General Fund Activities 

Total Water Utility System $ 978,650

Transfers from the Solid Waste Fund to:
General Fund $ 74,247  Supplement General Fund Activities 

Transfers to/within the General Fund from:
Water Utility System $ 664,356  Supplement General Fund Activities 
Solid Waste Fund 74,247  Supplement General Fund Activities 

Total Transfers to/within the General Fund $ 738,603

Transfers to the Solid Waste Fund from:
Water Utility System $ 314,294  Supplement Solid Waste Activities 

Total Transfers $ 1,052,897 $ 1,052,897

 
E. DISAGGREGATION OF RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 
 
Receivables at September 30, 2013 were as follows: 

Special 
Revenue Funds

Receivables:

Property Taxes $ 169,729    $ -                $ -                           $ -               $ 169,729      
Hotel/Motel Taxes -                2,376        -                           -               2,376          
Accounts 16,910      -                235,027               109,093    361,030      

Gross Receivables $ 186,639    2,376        $ 235,027               $ 109,093    $ 533,135      
    Less Allowance for Uncollectibles (10,991)     -                (73,178)                (39,999)     (124,168)     

Total Net Receivables $ 175,648    $ 2,376        $ 161,849               $ 69,094      $ 408,967      

General Water and Sewer TotalSolid Waste
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E. DISAGGREGATION OF RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES - continued 
 
Payables at September 30, 2013 were as follows: 

Payables

Accounts $ 115,106     $ 7,916       $ 40,595     $ 50,226     $ 213,843   

Wages payable 65,182       -               19,782     12,646     97,610     
Payroll-related payables 3,787         -               341          -               4,128       
Accrued Pension Payable 137,839     -               38,620     651          177,110   
   Total Wages and Salaries Payable $ 206,808     $ -               $ 58,743     $ 13,297     $ 278,848   

Accrued vacation payable 66,632       -               23,882     4,653       95,167     

    Total Accounts Payable $ 388,546     $ 7,916       $ 123,220    $ 68,176     $ 587,858   

TotalGeneral
Water and 

Sewer Solid Waste

Special 
Revenue 

Funds

 
F. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital asset activity for the City for the year ended September 30, 2013 was as follows: 
 
Governmental Actvities:

Beginning Additions/ Retirements/ Ending
Balance Adjustments Adjustments Balance

Land $ 74,664                 $ $ -                       $ 74,664                 
Buildings & Improvements 376,832               -                       376,832               
Office Furniture & Equipment 142,878               -                       142,878               
Machinery & Equipment 1,430,190            68,240              107,281           1,391,149            
Infrastructure 2,535,671            -                       2,535,671            

Total General Fixed Assets $ 4,560,235            $ 68,240              $ 107,281           $ 4,521,194            

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation

Buildings & Improvements $ (296,972)             $ (6,768)               $ -                       $ (303,740)             
Office Furniture & Equipment (110,387)             (16,645)             -                       (127,032)             
Machinery & Equipment (977,793)             (103,311)           105,567           (975,537)             
Infrastructure (2,130,117)          (49,160)             -                       (2,179,277)          

Total Accumulated Depreciation (3,515,269)          (175,884)           105,567           (3,585,586)          

Governmental Activities
Capital Assets - Net $ 1,044,966            $ (107,644)           $ 1,714               $ 935,608               
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F. CAPITAL ASSETS - continued 
 
Business-type Activities:

Beginning  Additions/  Retirements/  Ending 
Balance Adjustments Adjustments Balance

Water & Sewer System:
Land $ 6,300                  $ -                        $ -                       $ 6,300                  
Buildings & Improvements 13,908                 -                       13,908                 
Water & Sewer System 3,605,952            4,505,352         -                       8,111,304            
Construction in Progress 4,144,871            360,481            4,505,352        -                          
Machinery and Equipment 667,821               31,667              699,488               
Office Furniture and Equipment 70,302                 70,302                 
  Total Water & Sewer System $ 8,509,154            $ 4,897,500         $ 4,505,352        $ 8,901,302            

Solid Waste:
Machinery & Equipment $ 793,669               $ 216,147            $ -                       $ 1,009,816            

Total Fixed Assets $ 9,302,823            $ 5,113,647         $ 4,505,352        $ 9,911,118            

Less Accumulated Depreciation:

Water & Sewer System:
Buildings & Improvements $ (3,828)                 $ (518)                  $ -                       $ (4,346)                 
Water & Sewer System (2,818,909)          (127,713)           -                       (2,946,622)          
Machinery and Equipment (471,573)             (34,305)             -                       (505,878)             
Other Equipment (55,761)               (5,850)               -                       (61,611)               
  Total Water & Sewer System $ (3,350,071)          $ (168,386)           $ -                       $ (3,518,457)          

Solid Waste:
Machinery & Equipment $ (31,057)               $ (87,915)             $ -                       $ (118,972)             

Total Accumulated Depr. (3,381,128)          (256,301)           -                       (3,637,429)          

Business-type Activities
Capital Assets, Net $ 5,921,695            $ 4,857,346         $ 4,505,352        $ 6,273,689            

 
Depreciation Expense was charged to functions as follows: 
 

Governmental Business-type
Function Activities Activities

Executive $ 25,189               $ -                         
Police 72,377               -                         
Streets, Animal Control and Shop 72,583               -                         
Parks and Cemetary 5,735                 -                         
Water and Sewerage -                         168,385              
Solid Waste 87,915                

Total Depreciation $ 175,884             $ 256,300              
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G. CAPITAL LEASES 
 
The City leased a front loader from Caterpillar International.  A summary of change in commitment under this lease 
for the year ended September 30, 2013 is as follows. 

Asset
Leased

Caterpillar Wheel Loader $ 23,875             $ -              $ 23,875    $ -                               

Total $ 23,875             $ -              $ 23,875    $ -                               

October 1, 2012 Additions Payments September 30, 2013
Outstanding

Payable AmountPayable Amount
Outstanding

 
 

 
The City extinguished this lease obligation during the current fiscal year. 

 
 
H. LOANS PAYABLE 
 
The City borrowed funds from Wes Tex Community Credit Union to acquire two Ford Explorers in May 2012.  The 
loan bears a 3.00% rate of interest and is repayable by eight semi-annual payments of $8,178.  The first payment of 
$8,178 was made June 15, 2012.  In addition, the City borrowed funds from WesTex Community Credit Union to 
acquire a Ford F750 dump truck in June 2012.  The loan bears a 3.00% rate of interest and is repayable by twenty 
quarterly payments of $3,698.  The first payment of $3,698 was made August 15, 2012. 
 
A summary of the change in commitments under these loans for the year ended September 30, 2013 is as follows. 

Asset Purchased

Two 2012 Ford Explorers $ 53,960             -                    $ 14,853         $ 39,107            
2012 Ford F750 Dump Truck 65,257             -                    12,981         52,276            

$ 119,217           $ -                    $ 27,834         $ 91,383            

Payable Amount 
Outstanding 

September 30, 
2013

Payable Amount 
Outstanding 

October 1, 2012 Additions Payments

 
 
Principal and interest requirements for future periods are as follows: 

Fiscal
Year-End

2 2013 Ford Explorers
2014 $ 15,297             $ 1,059            $ 16,356         
2015 15,759             597               16,356         
2016 8,051               127               8,178           

$ 39,107             $ 1,783            $ 40,890         

Ford F750 Dump Truck
2014 $ 13,375             $ 1,419            $ 14,794         
2015 13,781             1,013            14,794         
2016 14,199             595               14,794         
2017 10,921             164               11,085         

$ 52,276             $ 3,191            $ 55,467         
Total

2014 $ 28,672             $ 2,478            $ 31,150         
2015 29,540             1,610            31,150         
2016 22,250             722               22,972         
2017 10,921             164               11,085         

$ 91,383             $ 4,974            $ 96,357         

Principal Interest Total
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I. TAX AND REVENUE OBLIGATION BONDS 
 
The City issued $4,595,000 in Combination Tax & Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2008, on March 11, 
2008.  The proceeds of these bonds will be used to construct a new wastewater treatment plant as required under 
state regulations promulgated by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ).  The net revenues of the 
Water and Sewer Fund serve as pledged collateral for this debt.  In addition, the bond covenant allows the City to 
assess additional property taxes to cover the debt service of the obligations.  The City has elected to impose an 
assessment of $12 per water meter connection per month to cover the debt service.  The bonds carry a true interest 
rate of 2.542%.  They are payable over a twenty-year period with a maturity date of February 15, 2028.   Interest 
payments are due every August 15 and principal and interest payments are due every February 15.  
 
A summary of changes in the bond obligations for the year ended September 30, 2013 is as follows: 

Balance               
October 1, 2012 Issued Redeemed

Balance             
September 30, 2013

Bonds $ 3,830,000 $ -                      $ 200,000 $ 3,630,000

 
 
The debt service schedule for these bonds is as follows:  

Fiscal Years ended: Principal Interest Total
2014 $ 205,000 $ 89,401 $ 294,401
2015 210,000 85,250 295,250
2016 215,000 80,786 295,786
2017 220,000 76,055 296,055
2018 225,000 71,048 296,048

2019-2023 1,200,000 268,546 1,468,546
2024-2028 1,355,000 97,324 1,452,324

$ 3,630,000 $ 768,410 $ 4,398,410

 
Interest expense related to this debt reported in the Proprietary Fund financial statements and the government-wide 
financial statements was $45,250.  Of this expense, $11,875 was accrued in the prior fiscal year. $93,200 was paid 
on February 15, 2013 and August 15, 2013 pursuant to the debt service schedule, $11,425 was accrued from August 
15, 2013 to September 30, 2013, and $47,500 was capitalized as part of the capital project. 
 
 
J. TAX NOTES, SERIES 2011 
 
The City issued $930,000 in Tax Notes, series 2011, on November 11, 2011.  The proceeds of these bonds were 
used to acquire capital equipment to conduct the solid waste collection function.  The net revenues of the Solid Waste 
Fund serve as pledged collateral for this debt.  In addition, property taxes collected by the City serve as pledged 
collateral and source of repayment if the net revenues from the Solid Waste operations fail to adequately cover the 
debt service requirement.  The bonds carry a true interest rate of 2.50%.  They are payable over a five year period 
with a maturity date of February 15, 2018.   Interest payments are due every August 15 and principal and interest 
payments are due every February 15.  
 
A summary of changes in the bond obligations for the year ended September 30, 2013 is as follows:  

Balance               
October 1, 2012 Issued Redeemed

Balance             
September 30, 2013

Bonds $ 930,000          $ -                      $ 145,000            $ 785,000          
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J. TAX NOTES, SERIES 2011 - continued 
 
The debt service schedule for these bonds is as follows: 

Fiscal Years ended: Principal Interest Total
2014 $ 150,000          $ 17,750            $ 167,750            
2015 155,000          13,938            168,938            
2016 155,000          10,063            165,063            
2017 160,000          6,125              166,125            
2018 165,000          2,062              167,062            

$ 785,000          $ 49,938            $ 834,938            

 
Interest expense related to this debt reported in the Proprietary Fund financial statements and the government-wide 
financial statements was $20,984.  Of this expense, $2,907 was accrued in the prior fiscal year, $21,438 was paid on 
February 15, 2013 and August 15, 2013 pursuant to the debt service schedule and $2,453 was accrued from August 
15, 2013 to September 30, 2013. 
 
 
K. ACCUMULATED UNPAID VACATION AND SICK LEAVE BENEFITS 
 
Upon termination of employment, the City pays employees for any unused vacation leave that has been earned 
through the last day of work if the employee terminates in good standing with proper notice.  Each regular full-time 
employee may accumulate up to a maximum of 240 hours of unused vacation leave.  The amount of accumulated 
unused vacation leave in the General Fund is reported in the government fund financial statements because it is 
considered a short-term obligation.  
  
 
L. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 
 
Plan Description:  The City provides pension benefits for all its eligible employees through a non-traditional, joint 
contributory, hybrid defined benefit plan in the state-wide Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS), an agent 
multiple-employer public employee retirement system.  The plan provisions that have been adopted by the City are 
within the options available in the governing state statutes of TMRS.   
 
TMRS issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial statements and 
required supplementary information (RSI) for TMRS; the report also provides detailed explanations of the 
contributions, benefits and actuarial methods and assumptions used by the System.  This report may be obtained by 
writing to TMRS, P.O. Box, Austin, Texas 78714-9153 or by calling 800-927-8677; in addition, the report is available 
on TMRS’ website at www.TMRS.com. 
 
The plan provisions are adopted by the City Council, within the options available in the state statutes governing 
TMRS.  Plan provisions for the City were as follows: 

 

Plan year 2012 Plan year 2013

7.00% 7.00%

2 to 1 2 to 1

5 5

60/5, 0/25 60/5, 0/25

100% Repeating, Transfers 100% Repeating, Transfers

70% of CPI Repeating 70% of CPI Repeating

 
 

http://www.tmrs.com/
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L. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN - continued 
 
Contributions:   Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually by 
the actuary, using the Projected Unit Credit actuarial cost method.  This rate consists of the normal cost contribution 
rate and the prior service cost contribution rate, which is calculated to be a level percent of payroll from year to year.  
The normal cost contribution rate finances the portion of an active member’s projected benefit allocated annually; the 
prior service contribution rate amortizes the unfunded (overfunded) actuarial liability (asset) over the applicable period 
for that city.  Both the normal cost and prior service contribution rates include recognition of the projected impact of 
annually repeating benefits, such as Updated Service Credits and Annuity Increases. 
 
The City contributes to the TMRS Plan at an actuarially determined rate.  Both the employees and the City make 
contributions monthly.  Since the City needs to know its contribution rate in advance for budgetary purposes, there is 
a one-year delay between the actuarial valuation that serves as the basis for the rate and the calendar year when the 
rate goes into effect.   
 
The annual pension cost and net pension obligation/ (asset) are as follows: 

1 Annual required Contribution (ARC) $ 373,352
2 Interest on Net Pension Obligation 11,903
3 Adjustment to the ARC (10,458)
4 Annual pension cost 374,797
5 Contributions made 367,733
6 Increase (decrease) in net pension obligation 7,064
7 Net Pension Obligation/(Asset), beginning of year 170,046
8 Net Pension Obligation/(Asset), end of year $ 177,110

 
 

The three-year trend information is as follows: 

Fiscal Year 
Ending

Annual Pension 
Cost (APC)

Actual 
Contribution Made

Percentage of 
APC Contributed

Net Pension 
Obligation/(Asset)

2011 $295,197 $247,548 83.86% $47,649
2012 $298,361 $280,550 94.03% $17,811
2013 $374,797 $367,733 98.12% $7,064
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L. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN - continued 
 
The required contribution rates for fiscal year 2013 were determined as part of the December 31, 2010 and 2011 
actuarial valuations.  Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation, December 31, 2012, also follows: 

 

Valuation Date
12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012

Actuarial Cost Method Projected Unit 
Credit

Projected Unit 
Credit

Projected Unit 
Credit

Amortization Method Level Percent of 
Payroll

Level Percent of 
Payroll

Level Percent of 
Payroll

GASB 25 Equivalent Single Amortization 
Period

27.1 years; closed 
period

26.0 years; closed 
period

25.1 years; closed 
period

Amortization Period for new Gains/Losses 30 years 30 years 30 years

Asset Valuation Method 10-year Smoothed 
Market

10-year Smoothed 
Market

10-year Smoothed 
Market

Actuarial Assumptions:

  Investment Rate of Return* 7.00% 7.00% 7.00%

  Projected Salary Increases* Varies by age and 
service

Varies by age and 
service

Varies by age and 
service

  *Includes Inflation at 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

  Cost-of-Living Adjustments 2.10% 2.10% 2.10%

 
Funding Status and Funding Progress:  The funded status as of December 31, 2012, the most recent actuarial 
valuation date, is as follows: 

Actuarial 
Valuation Date

Funded 
Ratio

UAAL as a 
Percentage of 

Covered Payroll

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)

(1)/(2) (2) - (1) (4)/(5)

12/31/2012 $ 6,222,717 $ 8,500,861 73.2% $ 2,278,144 $ 1,421,742 160.2%

Actuarial Value 
of Assets

Actuarial Accrued 
Liability (AAL)

Unfunded AAL 
(UAAL) Covered Payroll

 
  
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of 
events far into the future.  Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are 
compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. 
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L. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN - continued 
 
Actuarial calculations are based on the benefits provided under the terms of the substantive plan in effect at the time 
of each valuation, and reflect a long-term perspective.  Consistent with that perspective, actuarial methods and 
assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities 
and the actuarial value of assets.  The following schedule of funding progress presents multi-year trend information 
about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued 
liability of benefits.  This information, which is considered Required Supplementary Information and is unaudited, is 
usually presented in a separate section of the financial statements.  The City has elected to include it here. 
 

Actuarial 
Valuation Date

Funded 
Ratio

UAAL as a 
Percentage of 

Covered Payroll

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)

(1)/(2) (2) - (1) (4)/(5)

12/31/2010 $ 5,433,330 $ 7,726,397 70.3% $ 2,293,067 $ 1,317,552 174.0%

12/31/2011 $ 5,825,441 $ 8,055,311 72.3% $ 2,229,870 $ 1,305,731 170.8%

12/31/2012 $ 6,222,717 $ 8,500,861 73.2% $ 2,278,144 $ 1,421,742 160.2%

Schedule of Funding Progress

Actuarial Value 
of Assets

Actuarial Accrued 
Liability (AAL)

Unfunded AAL 
(UAAL) Covered Payroll

(unaudited)

 
 
M. SUPPLEMENTAL DEATH BENEFITS FUND 
 
The City also participates in the cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit group-term life insurance plan 
operated by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) known as the Supplemental Death Benefits Fund 
(SDBF).  The City elected, by ordinance, to provide group-term life insurance coverage to both current and retired 
employees.  The City may terminate coverage under and discontinue participation in the SDBF by adopting an 
ordinance before November 1 of any year to be effective the following January 1. 
 
The death benefit for active employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal to the employee’s annual 
salary (calculated based on the employee’s actual earnings, for the 12-month period preceding the month of death); 
retired employees are insured for $7,500; this coverage is an “other postemployment benefit,” or OPEB. 
 
The City contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate as determined by an annual actuarial valuation.  The 
rate is equal to the cost of providing one-year term life insurance.  The funding policy for the SDBF program is to 
assure that adequate resources are available to meet all death benefit payments for the upcoming year; the intent is 
not to pre-fund retiree term life insurance during employees’ entire careers. 
 
The City’s contributions to the TMRS SDBF for the years ended 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $4,778, $3,572 and 
$3,714, respectively, which equaled the required contributions each year. 
 
 
N. DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
 
Deferred inflows of resources reported only in the General Fund financial statements at September 30, 2013 
consisted of property tax revenue assessed but not collected in the amount of $169,729 less allowance for 
uncollectible accounts of $4,449 for net deferred inflows of $165,280. 
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O.     REVENUE FROM LOCAL AND INTERMEDIATE SOURCES 
 
During the current year, revenues from local and intermediate sources consisted of the following: 
 

Animal Shelter Fees $ 1,395            $ -                    $ -                    $ 1,395            
Court costs, fees and charges 514               7,076            -                    514               
Street Lighting 114,010        -                    -                    114,010        
Cemetary Services 58,500          -                    -                    58,500          
Sale of Cemetary Lots 33,500          33,500          
Water -                    -                    1,000,110     1,000,110     
Sewer -                    -                    363,900        363,900        
Solid Waste -                    737,552        
Other Services -                    -                    121,666        121,666        

Service related income $ 207,919        $ 7,076            $ 2,223,228     $ 2,431,147     

Property Taxes $ 610,168        $ -                    $ -                    $ 610,168        
General Sales & Use Tax 734,216        -                    -                    734,216        
Franchise Tax 245,703        -                    -                    245,703        
Gross Receipts Business Tax -                    30,215          -                    -                    
Penalties & Interest 34,020          -                    -                    34,020          

Tax-related Income $ 1,624,107     $ 30,215          $ -                    $ 1,624,107     

Contributions from Private Sources $ 23,550          $ -                    $ -                    $ 23,550          

Fines 137,750        -                    -                    137,750        
Licenses and Permits 34,817          -                    -                    34,817          
Special assessments -                    -                    346,227        346,227        
Other Revenue 34,735          -                    8,902            43,637          
        Other revenue $ 207,302        $ -                    $ 355,129        $ 562,431        

Investment Earnings $ 4,695            $ -                    $ 911               $ 5,606            

Totals $ 2,067,573     $ 37,291          $ 2,579,268     $ 4,646,841     

Total
General 

Fund Funds
ProprietarySpecial Revenue

Funds

 
 
 
P. LITIGATION 
 
The City was party to a cause of action regarding non-payment of an invoice dated June 25, 2012 for professional 
services provided to the City under a contractual obligation.  The amount of the invoice in question for which the City 
could be held liable was $56,087.  The matter was settled subsequent to these financial statements and the court 
ordered the City to pay $41,000 under this claim.  The amount of the award was not readily determinable at 
September 30, 2013.  Therefore, no liability was accrued for the judgment.  It was budgeted for and paid in the 
subsequent fiscal year. 
 
Q. OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Other than litigation disclosed in Note P and subsequent events disclosed in Note  S in these financial statements, 
the City administration was not aware of any other significant contingencies or commitments at September 30, 2013. 
 

 
R.           RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, thefts, damage or destruction of assets, errors and 
omissions, injuries to employees and natural disasters.  During fiscal 2013, the City purchased commercial insurance 
to cover general liabilities.  There were no significant reductions in coverage in the past fiscal year, and there were no 
settlements exceeding insurance coverage for each of the past three years.  
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R. RISK MANAGEMENT - continued 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2013, the City was a participant in the Public Entity Risk Pool currently operating 
as the Texas Municipal League's modified self-funded pool.  The coverage in this pool is for workers' compensation 
insurance, health insurance and unemployment. 

 
 
S. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
The City's construction of the new waste water treatment plant is under the supervision of the Texas Water 
Development Board (TWDB) and the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ).  As such, the City is 
obligated to have the plant substantially completed and the old system completely remediated and closed pursuant to 
stipulations in the construction agreement.  The treatment plant construction was completed and put on line in March 
2013.  However, the closure of the old system was not progressing as scheduled.  TWDB officials have not assessed 
any penalties or fines for the delay as of the date of these financial statements.  City administration does not expect 
TWDB or TCEQ to assess any penalties or fines because the City is making concerted efforts to remediate and close 
the old system.  The TCEQ has granted the City until August 31, 2015 to close the old system. 
 
The City estimates the cost to close the old system to the satisfaction of the oversight authorities to be totally covered 
by the remaining monies in the cash accounts that are restricted for construction of the waste water system.  The 
contractor of record of this project estimates a much higher cost to close the ponds.  City administration stipulates 
that the contractor has violated provisions of the contract and the City is in the midst of negotiations with the 
contractor to determine the respective parties' liabilities and obligations to complete this project.   
 
 
T. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 
 
During the year, the City recorded the following prior period adjustments: 
 

Exhibit B-1 Exhibit C-3 Exhibit D-2

The City classified the special revenue funds 
separately from the general fund during the year.  This 
treatment warranted segregation of October 1, 2012 
fund balances of the respective funds from the 
general fund into the special revenue funds as follows:
  From the General Fund $ (19,192)          $ (19,192)            $
  To the Special Revenue Funds 19,192           19,192             

Retroactive treatment of bond issuance costs  
pursuant to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board Statement No. 65 - See Note I, F, Item #7, in 
these notes to the financial statements

(118,650)        (118,650)         

Hotel and Motel taxes that were collected but not 
reported in the prior year. 2,055             2,055               -                      

$ (116,595)        $ 2,055               $ (118,650)         
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CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Control

Data

Codes

60

Child Safety

Fund Tax

Hotel/Motel

80

Technology

Court

91

160 180 191

ASSETS

2,376- -Receivables (Net) $ $ $1150

Restricted Assets:

12,1627,369 1,036Temporarily Restricted Cash1611

Total Assets1000 7,369 14,538 1,036$ $ $

LIABILITIES

7,916- -Accounts Payable $ $ $2010

Total Liabilities2000 - 7,916 -

FUND BALANCES

6,6227,369 1,036    Restricted by Enabling Legislation3260

Total Fund Balances3000 7,369 6,622 1,036

4000 Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 7,369 14,538 1,036$ $ $

40
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT E-1

93

Court

Funds

Governmental

Nonmajor

193 Total

Security

- 2,376$ $

7,960 28,527

7,960 30,903$ $

- 7,916$ $

- 7,916

7,960 22,987

7,960 22,987

7,960 30,903$ $
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CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES  IN
FUND BALANCES - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Control

Data

Codes

60

Child Safety

Fund Tax

Hotel/Motel

80

Technology

Court

91

160 180 191

REVENUES:

Taxes:
30,215- -Other Taxes5180 $ $ $

-904 3,549Fines5510

     Total Revenues5020 904 30,215 3,549

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
General Government:

-- 3,097Municipal Court0012

Public Safety:
-60 -Child Safety Education0025

Conservation and Development:
30,279- -Economic Development and Tourism0065

     Total Expenditures6030 60 30,279 3,097

1200           Net Change in Fund Balance

0100 Fund Balance - October 1 (Beginning)

1300 Restatements and Prior Period Adjustments

3000 Fund Balance - September 30 (Ending)

844 (64) 452

- - -

6,525 6,686 584

$ 7,369 $ 6,622 $ 1,036

42
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT E-2

93

Court

Security Funds

Governmental

Nonmajor

193 Total

30,215-$ $
7,0762,623

2,623 37,291

3,15760

60-

30,279-

60 33,496

2,563

-

5,397

$ 7,960

3,795

-

19,192

$ 22,987
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 



EXHIBIT F-1
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - WATER UTILITY SYSTEM

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

(See Note)

GAAP BASIS
Budgeted Amounts

Original Final

Actual AmountsActual Variance With
Final Budget
Positive or

(Negative)

OPERATING REVENUES:

1,009,4001,002,400 1,000,110 (9,290)Charges for Water Services $ $ $ $
336,000330,000 363,900 27,900Charges for Sewerage Service

10,00010,000 8,100 (1,900)Tapping Fees
31,00020,000 31,146 146Reconnect Fees

-1,500 - -Returned Check Charges
86,50085,000 82,420 (4,080)Charges for Late Payments

1,6001,500 911 (689)Investment Earnings
-- 8,902 8,902Other Revenue

Total Operating Revenues 1,450,400 1,474,500 1,495,489 20,989

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Water/Sewer Department

321,900281,900 328,006 (6,106)Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages
127,525127,525 146,327 (18,802)Personnel Services - Employee Benefits

15,00015,000 19,867 (4,867)Purchased Professional & Technical Services
194,450194,450 182,454 11,996Purchased Property Services

5,7505,750 5,354 396Other Operating Expenses
131,839108,550 110,568 21,271Supplies

Total Water/Sewer Department 733,175 796,464 792,576 3,888

Utility Office

53,06448,266 55,843 (2,779)Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages
23,58022,910 24,327 (747)Personnel Services - Employee Benefits
26,00023,000 30,082 (4,082)Purchased Professional & Technical Services

6,7006,700 6,473 227Purchased Property Services
4,7502,225 4,807 (57)Other Operating Expenses
3,6502,650 3,767 (117)Supplies

Total Utility Office 105,751 117,744 125,299 (7,555)

Finance

43,20043,200 46,334 (3,134)Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages
20,47620,476 20,449 27Personnel Services - Employee Benefits

3,5003,500 15,215 (11,715)Purchased Professional & Technical Services
-100 - -Purchased Property Services

148148 118 30Other Operating Expenses
650720 1,494 (844)Supplies

Total Finance 68,144 67,974 83,610 (15,636)

-- 168,385 (168,385)Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses 907,070 982,182 1,169,870 (187,688)

Operating Income (Loss) 543,330 492,318 325,619 (166,699)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

330,000330,000 346,227 16,227Special Assessments for Revenue Bonds
-100 - -Investment Earnings on Revenue Bond Funds

(800)(800) (800) -Agency Fees on Bond Revenue Fund
(130)(60) (66) 64Other Expenses for Bond Revenue Fund

(93,200)(93,200) (45,250) 47,950Bond Interest Expense

Total Non-operating Revenue (Expenses) 236,040 235,870 300,111 64,241

Income (Loss) Before Transfers 779,370 728,188 625,730 (102,458)

  
(675,000)(675,000) (978,650) (303,650)Transfers Out
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The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT F-1(Cont'd)
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - WATER UTILITY SYSTEM

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

(See Note)

GAAP BASIS
Budgeted Amounts

Original Final

Actual AmountsActual Variance With
Final Budget
Positive or

(Negative)

Change in Net Position

Net Position - October 1 (Beginning)

Restatements and Prior Period Adjustments

Net Position - September 30 (Ending)

104,370

3,857,406

-

$ 7,819,182

53,188

3,857,406

-

$ 7,768,000

(352,920)

3,857,406

(98,391)

$ 7,263,501

(406,108)

-

(98,391)

$ (504,499)
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The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EXHIBIT F-2
CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - SOLID WASTE FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

(See Note)

GAAP BASIS
Budgeted Amounts

Original Final

Actual AmountsActual Variance With
Final Budget
Positive or

(Negative)

OPERATING REVENUES:

680,900670,450 737,552 56,652Sanitation Charges for Services $ $ $ $

Total Operating Revenues 670,450 680,900 737,552 56,652

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Solid Waste

226,79398,600 202,322 24,471Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages
74,64447,350 77,461 (2,817)Personnel Services - Employee Benefits
14,5005,500 15,581 (1,081)Purchased Professional & Technical Services
53,0009,000 52,704 296Purchased Property Services

236,000120,000 238,593 (2,593)Other Operating Expenses
119,15091,150 118,934 216Supplies

Total Solid Waste 371,600 724,087 705,595 18,492

-- 87,915 (87,915)Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses 371,600 724,087 793,510 (69,423)

Operating Income (Loss) 298,850 (43,187) (55,958) (12,771)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

(21,438)(21,437) (20,984) 454Bond Interest Expense

Total Non-operating Revenue (Expenses) (21,437) (21,438) (20,984) 454

Income (Loss) Before Transfers 277,413 (64,625) (76,942) (12,317)

  
-- 314,294 314,294Non-Operating Transfer In
-- (74,247) (74,247)Transfers Out

  
Change in Net Position

Net Position - October 1 (Beginning)

Restatements and Prior Period Adjustments

Net Position - September 30 (Ending)

277,413

31,700

-

$ 340,813

(64,625)

31,700

-

$ (1,225)

163,105

31,700

(20,259)

$ 206,246

227,730

-

(20,259)

$ 207,471
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The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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I. Summary of the Auditor’s Results 
 

a. The type of report issued on the financial statements of the City of Kermit, Texas was an 
unqualified opinion. 

b. No reportable significant deficiencies in internal control were disclosed by the audit of the 
financial statements. 

c. The audit disclosed no instances of non-compliance that could be material to the financial 
statements of the City of Kermit, Texas. 

d. The audit disclosed no: 
1. Known questioned costs greater than $10,000 for a Federal program, which is not audited 

as a major program. 
2. Known fraud affecting a Federal award, unless such fraud is otherwise reported as an 

audit finding in the schedule of findings and questioned costs for Federal awards. 
3. Instances where audit follow-up procedures disclosed that the summary schedule of prior 

audit findings prepared by the City of Kermit, Texas materially misrepresents the status of 
any prior audit finding.   

e. The City had no major programs. 
f. The City was not subject to the Single Audit Act. 
g. The City did not qualify as a low-risk auditee. 

 
 
II. Findings Relating to the Financial Statements Which Are Required to be Reported in Accordance 
with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards. 
 

2013-1 All deposits shall be insured by the FDIC, NCUA, FSLIC or secured by pledged collateral  
Control deficiency 
Noncompliance 
 

Condition: Per review of activity in the City's cash and cash equivalents, one of the City’s 
certificate of deposit was not adequately secured throughout the year by the bank that held it. 
 
Criteria: The City's Investment Policy and the Public Funds Investment Act require that all deposits 
and investments of City funds be secured by pledged collateral and/or insured by the FDIC, NCUA 
or FSLIC. 
 
Effect:  Cash was exposed to custodial risk at a minimum of $486 and a maximum of $2,495 for 
the year. 
 
Cause:  The City did not monitor the invested CD balance as the interest earned on the CD caused 
the invested balance to exceed the insured level. 
 
Recommendation:  Monitor invested cash to ensure balances are adequately covered by 
insurance or pledged collateral. 
 
View of Responsible Officials:  See corrective action plan 

 
 
 2013-2 Quarterly meetings of the Investment Committee 
 Control deficiency 
 Noncompliance 
   

Condition:  Per review of the minutes of the investment committee and the minutes of the city 
council meeting, only one meeting was held during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013. 
 
Criteria:  The City's Investment Policy requires that the Investment Committee shall meet at least 
quarterly to review operational strategies and to monitor the results and structure of the investment 
portfolio. 
 
Effect:  The City's stewardship and fiduciary duty for managing cash and cash equivalents 
appeared to be vulnerable. 
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II. Findings Relating to the Financial Statements Which Are Required to be Reported in Accordance 
with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards - continued 

 
2013-2 Quarterly meetings of the Investment Committee - continued 
 

Cause: City administration has experienced a very significant turnover in the last eighteen 
months.  As a result, the Investment Committee did not meet regularly to oversee the City's cash 
operations. 
 
Recommendation:  The Investment Committee needs to schedule its quarterly meetings in a 
manner that allows the members to attend.  The Committee should report the results of those 
meetings to the City Council. 
  
View of Responsible Officials:  See corrective action plan. 
 

2013-3 Budgeted expenditures 
Control deficiency 
Noncompliance 
 

Condition:  Actual expenditures exceeded the general fund budgeted expenditures. 
 
Criteria:  Texas Local Government Code Sec. 102.009 states the governing body may spend 
municipal funds only in strict compliance with the budget. 
 
Effect:  Funds were expended in excess of what was provided for by the City Council's amended 
budget. 
 
Cause:  Yearend accruals of police radios and other expenditures caused booked expenditures to 
exceed budgeted amounts. 
 
Recommendation:  Make sure all planned expenditures are budgeted.  If an accrual must be 
made, make sure the Council approves any budget amendments to account for such accruals. 
 
View of Responsible Officials:  See corrective action plan. 
 

2013-4 Adoption of the City's 2012-2013 Ad Valorem Tax Rate and the Annual Budget 
Control deficiency 
Noncompliance 
 

Condition: The City Council did not approve and adopt the current year's budget and ad valorem 
tax levy until after the fiscal year began. 
 
Criteria:  Texas Local Government Code Sec 102.005 states the budget officer shall file the 
proposed budget with the municipal clerk before the 30th day before the date the governing body of 
the municipality makes its tax levy for the fiscal year. 
 
Cause:  City administration experienced a very significant turnover in the last eighteen months.  As 
a result, the City's 2012-2013 budget and ad valorem tax rate were not approved and adopted in a 
timely manner. 
 
Recommendation:  Prepare, approve and adopt the City's budget and ad valorem tax rate in the 
appropriate time frame. 
 
View of Responsible Officials:  See corrective action plan. 
 

 
III. Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards Including Audit Findings as Described in I.d 
Above 
 
 

No Findings 
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CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS 
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 
 

(Prepared by the City’s Administration) 
 
 

Finding 2012-1: Cash Deposits Inadequately Insured 
In the prior year, the City's deposits were not adequately secured by the designated depository bank and a 
bank that held a certificate of deposit.  During the current year, the City’s deposits were adequately secured 
by the designated depository bank.  However, the certificate of deposit's balance grew to exceed $250,000 
as a result of earned interest being credited to the balance throughout the year.  The balance at risk at 
September 30, 2013 was $2,495. 
 

 Finding 2012-2:  The Investment Committee did not meet on a quarterly basis to manage and monitor 
investments and cash as stipulated in the Investment Policy in the prior year. The Investment Committee did 
not meet as stipulated during the current year as well. 

 
 Finding 2012-3:  In the prior year the City failed to comply with the bidding laws when it purchased two Ford 

Explorers.   The City complied with the bidding laws during the current year by using the Buy Board for its 
major purchases. 
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CITY OF KERMIT, TEXAS 
CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 
 
 

(Prepared by the City’s Administration) 
 
 

For the following corrective action plan, the responsible officials are Gloria Saenz, City Manager, and 
Frankie Davis, Finance Officer: 
 
Finding 2013-1: Cash Deposits Inadequately Insured. 

The City Manager has taken steps to reduce the certificate of deposit in question to less than 
$250,000 to ensure all City funds are not at risk. 
 

Finding 2013-2:  The Investment Committee did not meet as stipulated in the Investment Policy. 
The City Manager will establish a regular meeting schedule for the Investment Committee to 
ensure all meetings are held as required.  In addition, recommendations from the Investment 
Committee will be documented in the minutes to the meetings of the City Council.  
 

Finding 2013-3:  The City's expenditures exceeded the amended budget for the year in the General Fund. 
 Administration will review the City's budget vs actual expenditures more thoroughly and monitor 

expenditures more closely.  The City expects to present more budget amendments before the City 
Council for approval. 

 
Finding 2013-4: The City Council did not approve and adopt the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013 

budget and ad valorem tax levy until after the fiscal year began.   
 For the fiscal year 2013-2014, the City Council approved and adopted the City's ad valorem tax 

rate levy and the City's annual budget on September 30, 2013. 
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